THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

AUG 02 2017

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable J.C. Nicholson, Jr.

Appellate Case No. 2016-002209

Steven Newbern and Claudia Newbern,..... Appellants,

v.

Ford Motor Company,..... Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

BARNES LAW FIRM, LLC
Kathleen Chewing Barnes
SC Bar No. 78854
kbarnes@barneslawfirmssc.com
Post Office Box 897
Hampton, SC 29924
Phone: 803-943-4529

Raymond O. Bodiford
121 South Orange Ave., Suite 1150
Orlando, FL 32801
Phone: 407-423-9728
Fax: 407-648 1899

Attorneys for Appellants

LAW OFFICES OF STEPHEN E. VAN GAASBECK
Stephen E. Van Gaasbeck

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Whether the lower court erred in granting Ford's directed verdict motion when Appellants presented sufficient evidence of strict liability and negligent design to submit the case to the jury?
- II. Whether Krishnaswami's testimony, as Ford's Rule 30(b)(6) corporate representative, constitutes party admissions that bind Ford and make further evidence unnecessary?
- III. Whether Krishnaswami testified as an expert because he testified as the manufacturer who is deemed an expert by law and provided expert testimony without objection?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a crashworthiness product liability action involving the restraint system in a 2009 Ford Focus. The action arises out of a motor vehicle accident in which Appellant Steven Newbern's front passenger airbag deployed unnecessarily and resulted in the loss of his right eye, facial fractures, and a sternum fracture. On May 17, 2013, Steven and Claudia Newbern ("Appellants") filed a complaint against Ford Motor Company and Stephen Ronald McGee,¹ the at-fault driver of the vehicle that hit Appellants' Ford Focus. On March 29, 2016, Appellants filed an Amended Complaint to conform to the evidence revealed in discovery. (R. pp. 32-35). Appellants asserted strict liability and negligence causes of action against Ford. *Id.* On April 15, 2016, Ford filed an Answer to Plaintiff's Amended Complaint.

From September 12, 2016, to September 16, 2016, a jury trial took place with the Honorable J.C. Nicholson presiding. Appellants called Ford's corporate representative and designated airbag design expert, Ramaniyam Krishnaswami, as an adverse witness in Appellants' case in chief. (R. p. 396 lns. 18-19). At the close of Appellants' evidence, Ford made a motion for a directed verdict, principally arguing Appellants did not prove a design defect and presented no expert testimony on defect or feasible alternative design. (R. pp. 740-46). Appellants asserted,

¹ Appellants settled their claim against McGee, and he was dismissed with prejudice.

inter alia, that the testimony of Ford's corporate representative, viewed in a light most favorable to them, established a design defect and a feasible alternative design such that no further evidence, expert or otherwise, was necessary. (R. pp. 747-52, 768-70).

On September 16, 2016, the lower court granted Ford's motion for a directed verdict. (R. p. 775). On September 26, 2016, Appellants timely filed a Motion for a New Trial. (R. pp. 66-84). On September 28, 2016, the lower court signed a Form 4 Order denying Appellants' Motion. (R. p. 6). Appellants timely served a Notice of Appeal on October 28, 2016. (R. p. 1).

FACTS

I. The Defective Airbag Deployment and Loss of Mr. Newbern's Right Eye

On the evening of December 28, 2012, the Newberns left their home in West Ashley, South Carolina, to go to the movie theatre. (R. p. 348, 681). Mrs. Newbern drove her 2009 Ford Focus, and Mr. Newbern rode in the front passenger seat. When Mrs. Newbern approached an intersection, Mr. McGee failed to yield the right-of-way, turned left in front of her, and hit the right front passenger side of the Newberns' Ford Focus. (R. pp. 685-86). Mr. McGee's vehicle continued on for approximately ten feet and hit another vehicle. (R. p. 357 lns. 21-23). The Newberns' driver and passenger airbags deployed. (R. p. 358).

Within thirty seconds after the collision, Mr. Newbern could no longer see. (R. p. 692 lns. 22-24). When Mr. Newbern unlatched his seatbelt, he felt a "crunching sensation" in his chest and "knew something was broken." (R. p. 688 lns. 5-7, 13). Emergency Medical Services personnel transferred Mr. Newbern to the trauma center at the Medical University of South Carolina (MUSC). (R. p. 361). He was in and out of consciousness during the ambulance ride and received morphine injections. (R. pp. 695-97). Mrs. Newbern testified that Mr. Newbern's face was "basically destroyed. Looked like his eye was almost out." (R. p. 362 lns. 11-15). Mr. Newbern underwent surgery to attempt to save his right eye. (R. p. 701). When he came home from the

hospital, Mrs. Newbern had to do everything for him, including “feed him, take him to the bathroom, shower him because he couldn’t see anything.” (R. pp. 378-79).

After the initial surgery, Mr. Newbern’s left eye, on which he relied completely, began to constantly water and became extremely sensitive to light. (R. p. 705). These issues resulted in a referral to Dr. Andrew Eiseman, an ophthalmic plastic and reconstructive surgeon with a subspecialty in eye socket trauma. (R. p. 477). He was qualified as an expert in ophthalmology, including surgical and plastic reconstructive ophthalmology. (R. p. 490). Dr. Eiseman removed Mr. Newbern’s right eye to relieve his pain and minimize the risk of developing sympathetic ophthalmia disorder in which the body attacks the noninjured eye. (R. pp. 491-92).

During the surgery to remove Mr. Newbern’s right eye, Dr. Eiseman placed an artificial implant into the eye socket and then reattached the eye muscles to it so the artificial eye would have some movement. (R. p. 493). Dr. Eiseman performed a separate procedure to remove scar tissue that caused problems with the artificial eye. (R. p. 505). Mr. Newbern suffers from eyelid droop and has reduced peripheral vision on the right side. (R. pp. 505-06). He underwent additional surgery to address his facial fractures. In that operation, “they had to rebreak those [facial bones] to reconstruct [his] sinus cavity.” (R. p. 706 lns. 12-15). Mr. Newbern now wears safety glasses when he drives because he is afraid of losing his remaining eye. (R. p. 381).

Mr. Newbern is an Air Force veteran who now works for Boeing. (R. pp. 347, 380-81, 672). Prior to the accident, he worked in a flight line position at Boeing, which consisted of making sure the aircraft is ready for its maiden flight, including finishing or redoing factory jobs, initial fueling, and the initial engine run. (R. pp. 676-77). He could not return to full-time work at Boeing for almost two-and-a-half years, and could never return to the flight line position. (R. pp. 382, 715-18).

Mr. Newbern suffered extensive physical and psychological injuries as a result of the defective airbag deployment. He lost his right eye, which caused lost depth perception and peripheral vision. (R. p. 378). Due to his lost vision, Mr. Newbern could no longer participate in his usual activities such as bike riding, target shooting, and going to the movies. (R. pp. 679-80). Driving is also extremely difficult for him now. (R. p. 381). The Newberns incurred \$221,402.29 in medical expenses, and Mr. Newbern had \$97,222.00 in lost wages. (R. p. 391 lns. 4-13).

The Newberns brought this crashworthiness product liability action against Ford asserting the restraint system in the 2009 Ford Focus is defectively designed and should not have deployed Mr. Newbern's airbag in the collision. (R. pp. 32-35). The Newberns allege the airbag caused the loss of his right eye, facial fractures, and sternum fracture. *Id.*

Ford's theory as to what caused Mr. Newbern's injuries is that he was holding a drinking glass in his hands at the time of the accident and the glass hit him in the face when the airbag deployed. (R. pp. 343-45). Therefore, under either Ford's theory or Appellants' theory, the injuries would not have occurred but for the airbag deployment. *See* R. p. 345 lns. 9-12 (stating Ford "believe[s] that the evidence will show you that [Mr. Newbern's] injury, the nature of his injuries, indicates that the airbag *alone* did not cause these injuries" (emphasis added)).

Regardless, Appellants testified there was no drinking glass in the car on the night of the accident and Mr. Newbern only uses an aluminum or plastic drink container in the car. (R. pp. 349-53, 359-60, 683-84, 690). Further, Dr. Eiseman testified he found no glass in the eye, the CT scan showed no glass, and his opinion is that it is "unlikely that broken glass was the culprit in [Mr. Newbern's] injuries." (R. pp. 494-95). In Dr. Eiseman's opinion, "the evidence is strongest to determine that this [injury] was due to blunt trauma" and not a penetrating injury such as glass. (R. pp. 495-97, 502).

II. Krishnaswami's Testimony as Ford's Corporate Representative and Expert

Krishnaswami testified at trial on behalf of Ford as its corporate representative. Ford's counsel introduced Krishnaswami to the court as "the design engineer for Ford" and stated he would be in attendance during the trial. (R. p. 296 lns. 7-9). The lower court invited Krishnaswami to sit at counsel's table and, after Ford's counsel stated it was crowded, invited him "to come and sit behind the lawyers." (R. p. 296 lns. 10-18).

In its opening statement, Ford introduced Krishnaswami to the jury as its representative.

In addition [to counsel] today we have Mr. Ram Krishnaswami who is sitting behind me. Mr. Krishnaswami is an engineer with Ford Motor Company. He will be a witness in this case. And he will address a number of things that you have heard about in the opening regarding what Ford did or may not have done, *what Ford knew or may not have known*.

(R. p. 329 lns. 7-14) (emphasis added). Throughout its opening, Ford referenced the testimony that Krishnaswami would provide on its behalf.

What the evidence will show you, you will first hear regarding the design and development process at Ford Motor Company. Mr. Krishnaswami is involved in that. He will testify regarding for this platform 2008 to 2011 Focus are basically the same vehicles, there were some changes in that time frame, but in that – before the job one, the first 2008, this was a 2009, but before 2008 Mr. Krishnaswami will talk to you about what testing was done by Ford with regard to the airbag sensing system.

...

Mr. Krishnaswami will be able to talk to you at length about the process that went into the design development of the 2008 to 2011 Focus and why we believe it is not defective and it was properly designed and that it operated properly in this crash.

...

And again Mr. Krishnaswami will be here and will be able to answer any questions that opposing counsel has.

...

We ran, and Ford ran specifically for this because of the allegations in this, a sled test with a dummy seated and we have that and I want to show it to you real quickly.

. . . Mr. Krishnaswami was responsible for calibrating and arranging that sled test. He will be able to tell you about the forces, what it replicates and how it relates to the forces in this accident and what it tells us or what it shows us about whether a full sized rear seated passenger presents his head or face in the area of the bag deploying.

(R. p. 339 lns. 1-11, p. 340 lns. 7-12, p. 341 lns. 12-14, pp. 341 ln. 21 – 342 ln. 9).

During a break on the first day of trial, Appellants' counsel informed Ford that it planned to call Krishnaswami as an adverse witness in Appellants' case in chief. (R. p. 386). Ford referred to Krishnaswami as "Ford's corporate representative, . . . [T]he technical airbag guy. He designs airbags." (R. p. 386 lns. 14-19). The lower court ruled that Appellants could call Krishnaswami in their case in chief and Ford could cross-examine him, recall him as a witness later, or both, but could not duplicate his testimony. (R. p. 387).

Appellants called Krishnaswami as an adverse witness. (R. p. 396). Krishnaswami stated that he testified in depositions for this case as a Ford corporate representative and as an expert witness designated by Ford. (R. pp. 398-99). Throughout his testimony as an adverse witness, Krishnaswami testified on behalf of Ford, frequently using the term "we" to refer to the corporation, and answered a question as to Ford's opinion. *See, e.g.*, R. pp. 406 ln. 19 – 407 ln. 21, pp. 408-12, p. 433 ln. 10-14, p. 449, p. 464 lns. 10-13, pp. 534-38, p. 541, pp. 597 ln. 25 – 598 ln. 7. Counsel for Ford even questioned him on cross-examination to speak on behalf of Ford. (R. p. 524 lns. 14-18).

Appellants' counsel specified that his questions were directed to Krishnaswami as Ford's corporate representative. "So you didn't under your initial soft targets or requirements, you, and I am talking about Ford, I know this isn't you . . ." (R. p. 442 lns. 13-15). Krishnaswami did not deny he was testifying for Ford and counsel for Ford did not object. At no point during Appellants' extensive examination of Krishnaswami eliciting expert opinions did Ford object on the basis that Krishnaswami was not qualified as an expert. On the contrary, counsel for Ford elicited expert

testimony from Krishnaswami on cross-examination. *See, e.g.*, R. pp. 524, 561-63, 568. Finally, the lower court recognized that Krishnaswami testified as an expert when it told him to directly answer Appellants' questions and then "give whatever *expert* explanation you want to give." (R. p. 418 lns. 5-14) (emphasis added).

III. Evidence of Design Defect and Feasible Alternative Designs that Would have Prevented Mr. Newbern's Injuries

Appellants brought this action as a crashworthiness case in which they allege Ford is liable for injuries due not to the collision itself but to Mr. Newbern's interaction with the interior of the vehicle, specifically the airbag, after the collision.² Ford understands the principle that every crash has two collisions—the first between the vehicle and another vehicle or object, and the second "is from the occupant into the interior of the vehicle." (R. p. 403). Ford knows that an occupant's impact with an airbag can cause injuries. (R. pp. 403-04,433-34). Ford knows specifically that a deploying airbag can cause eye injuries. (R. p. 580 lns. 4-9). Krishnaswami testified "we [Ford] have to be careful on how and where we deploy" an airbag. (R. p. 434 lns. 9-10).

Ford knows its vehicles will be in crashes and acknowledged it is responsible for ensuring that vehicle safety devices such as airbags work properly rather than cause harm. (R. p. 435 lns. 1-17). Ford agreed it should deploy an airbag only when it is needed (R. p. 460 lns. 3-7). One reason to not deploy an airbag unless it is needed is that a single crash event may involve multiple impacts in which an airbag is not needed for the first impact but is needed for a second, more severe impact. (R. pp. 457-58). "[W]e [Ford] try to preserve the airbag for the event where you need it." (R. p.

² "Under the crashworthiness doctrine, liability is imposed not for defects that cause collisions but for defects that cause injuries after collisions occur." *Jimenez v. DaimlerChrysler Corp.*, 269 F.3d 439, 452 (4th Cir. 2001), *citing Mickle v. Blackmon*, 252 S.C. 202, 230, 166 S.E.2d 173, 185-87 (1969) (recognizing the crashworthiness doctrine in South Carolina).

457 lns. 8-10). Another reason is to avoid injuries, including eye injuries, that can occur solely from the airbag. (R. pp. 458-59).

For these reasons, Ford's corporate representative and expert admitted that Ford's policy is to deploy an airbag only when it is necessary because "it [would] be unreasonably dangerous to provide a person with a system that will deploy airbags when they are not needed." (R. pp. 603-04). At the time of manufacture of the 2009 Ford Focus, Ford was "technologically and economically" capable of making a system that deployed an airbag only when necessary. (R. p. 460 lns. 8-17).

Ford used Bosch as the component supplier for the airbag crash sensors in the vehicle. (R. p. 407). As part of the development process for the sensors in the restraint system, Ford provided Bosch with its system performance requirements for various crash scenarios or "modes". (R. pp. 404, 411, 441). Ford specifies whether the seatbelt pretensioner,³ airbag, or both should deploy in a particular crash mode and the timing of the deployment. (R. pp. 406-07, 412-13, 416). Bosch then uses the data Ford collected from the sensors during crash testing to calibrate the crash sensor system in the vehicle according to Ford's specifications. (R. p. 529). Calibration is "the process of tuning the sensor system" in a vehicle. (R. p. 404 lns. 22-23). The results of the calibration process are provided to Ford in a "Calibration report". (R. pp. 413, 416).

Before giving Bosch its specifications, Ford spent significant time and effort to determine what crash modes do and do not require airbag deployment. Some crashes need only a pretensioner, some may need a pretensioner and an airbag, or may need an airbag for an unbelted

³ A seatbelt pretensioner is available when an occupant is belted, and its function is to remove slack in the seatbelt by tightening it to make the seatbelt performance efficient in a collision. (R. p. 321, p. 425 lns. 17-25, pp. 525-27).

occupant and no airbag for a belted occupant.⁴ Ford conducts hundreds of crash tests to get the information it uses to determine when to deploy and not deploy an airbag and within what timeframe after an accident impact it should deploy. (R. pp. 404-07). Ford also has “decades” of “history of collecting crash tests” and data it “accumulated internally” as well as the ability to conduct computer simulations. (R. p. 407). Bosch, as the sensor supplier, inputs the Ford calibration information for a vehicle into an algorithm in the sensor system. However, the calibration requirements provided by Ford, not the algorithm, “is what controls the airbag deployment or non-deployment.” (R. p. 412 lns. 2-6).

The crash test Ford conducted that is most similar to the Newberns’ collision is a 25 mile-per-hour crash into a rigid barrier wall at a 30-degree front right angle. (R. p. 424, p. 447, pp. 551-52). This is known as crash test 15978. (R. p. 422). The calibration report Ford sent to Bosch specified that, in this crash, a belted occupant should **not** receive an airbag. (R. pp. 437-38). Bosch was not able to achieve this specification and sent back a document showing that a belted passenger in a crash such as Mr. Newbern’s would get an airbag.⁵ (R. p. 419 lns. 8-9, p. 438). Ford’s calibration requirements specified eight frontal barrier calibration collisions for which it did not want a stage one airbag deployment for a belted occupant. (R. under seal p. 20). The calibration report shows that the final calibration accepted by Ford would deploy an airbag unnecessarily in five of the eight collisions. *Id.* (referring to test numbers SB15910, SB15907, SB15980, SB15978, and SB15891).

⁴ The 2009 Ford Focus included technology that allowed the restraint system to know when an occupant was belted or unbelted. (R. p. 426).

⁵ Crash test 15978 is listed as number 13 in the final calibration report. (R. under seal pp. 20-21). The chart shows that, for a crash such as the Newberns, Ford did **not** want an airbag to deploy for a belted passenger. This is indicated in the “target” column for the belted passenger by “0.0”. *Id.*; R. p. 427.

This final calibration, which Ford accepted, is directly contrary to its non-deployment specification based on decades of data, hundreds of crash tests, and computer simulation. Krishnaswami testified to an “iteration” process that should take place between Ford and a sensor supplier such as Bosch and involve a back-and-forth to result in a safely calibrated restraint system. (R. pp. 411-17). He testified that, upon receiving the noncompliant calibration report, Ford could have conducted further calibration crash tests, moved the crash sensor positions, added more parts, or reinforced a crash path, and then reevaluated the system. (R. pp. 417, 537-38, 587). However, instead of doing this, Ford chose to accept a performance that deviated from its specifications and that it knew would deploy an airbag when it was not needed for occupant protection. (R. pp. 419, 590). Ford did this when it was already months behind production and attempting to implement a cheaper, one-sensor system. (R. pp. 575-76).

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