THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In the Court of Appeals

Appeal from Charleston County

Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable J.C. Nicholson, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2016-002209

RECEIVED

JUL 25 2017

SC Court of Appeals

Steven Newbern and Claudia Newbern.....Appellants,

v.

Ford Motor Company.....Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Robert L. Wise, *pro hac vice*
rob.wise@bowmanandbrooke.com
Bowman and Brooke LLP
901 E. Byrd Street, Suite 1650
Richmond, Virginia 23219
Tel: (804) 819 1134
Fax: (804) 649-1762

J. Kenneth Carter
kcarter@turnerpadget.com
Carmelo B. ("Sam") Sammataro
ssammataro@turnerpadget.com
Bettis C. Rainsford, Jr.
brainsford@turnerpadget.com

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

Argument

South Carolina Rule of Civil Procedure 50(a) permits a trial court to grant directed verdict for a party when "the case presents only questions of law . . ." S.C. R. Civ. P. 50(a). In ruling on a motion for directed verdict, a trial court must "view the evidence and the inferences that reasonably can be drawn therefrom in the light most favorable to the party opposing the motion." *Estate of Carr ex rel. Bolton v. Circle S Enters., Inc.*, 379 S.C. 31, 38–39, 664 S.E.2d 83, 86 (Ct. App. 2008) (citing *Law v. S.C. Dep't of Corr.*, 368 S.C. 424, 434, 629 S.E.2d 642, 648 (2006)). Whether expert testimony is required to prove a case, however, "is a question of law." *Graves v. CAS Med. Sys., Inc.*, 401 S.C. 63, 81, 735 S.E.2d 650, 659 (2012).

The Supreme Court has admonished “that verdicts may not be permitted to rest upon surmise, conjecture or speculation.” *Hanahan v. Simpson*, 326 S.C. 140, 149, 485 S.E.2d 903, 908 (1997) (citing cases). Nor may trial courts submit “speculative, theoretical, or hypothetical views to the jury.” *Estate of Carr*, 379 S.C. at 38–39, 664 S.E.2d at 86.

“When considering directed verdict motions, neither the trial court nor the appellate court has authority to decide credibility issues or to resolve conflicts in the testimony or evidence. *Id.* Rather, “the trial court is concerned with the existence or non-existence of evidence, not its weight.” *State v. Saltz*, 346 S.C. 114, 138, 551 S.E.2d 240, 253 (2001). Similarly, in reviewing a directed verdict, the appellate court must affirm unless “there is no evidence to support the ruling” or “the ruling is controlled by an error of law.” *Id.*

Here, the trial court correctly applied these longstanding principles in directing verdict for Ford. This Court should therefore affirm.

As the trial court properly recognized, and as explained more below, South Carolina law requires that in complex product liability design defect cases involving highly technical issues—such as this case involving automotive airbag design and analysis, mechanical engineering, electrical engineering, and computer science, among other disciplines—plaintiffs must present competent expert evidence on these issues, including as to defect, risk-utility, alternative design, and causation. *Watson v. Ford Motor Co.*, 389 S.C. 434, 445, 699 S.E.2d 169, 175 (2010); *also Graves v. CAS Med. Sys., Inc.*, 401 S.C. 63, 80–81, 735 S.E.2d 650, 659 (2012).

Moreover, the trial court properly followed established South Carolina product liability law which required the plaintiffs to prove by competent and sufficient evidence the fundamental elements of their product liability design defect action. Under *Branham v. Ford Motor Co.*, the central inquiry at trial was whether the plaintiffs’ 2009 Ford Focus was “safe enough” when

analyzed under a risk-utility test. 390 S.C. 203, 222–24, 701 S.E.2d 5, 15–16 (2010). This inquiry required the plaintiffs to “present evidence of a reasonable alternative design” and “point to a design flaw in the product and show how his alternative design would have prevented the product from being unreasonably dangerous.” *Id.* at 225, 701 S.E.2d at 16.

The trial court here properly directed a verdict for Ford because the plaintiffs failed to support their case on numerous fundamental levels. As the trial court noted, they presented no expert testimony whatsoever on design defect, as required for a case such as this by *Watson*, *Graves*, and others. (R. p. 768, line 7-p. 769, line 11.) They likewise failed to present sufficient evidence to prove a defect under the required risk-utility analysis, including the threshold element of proving a safer alternative feasible design, as required under *Branham*. (See R. p. 764, lines 10-24.) And they failed to present sufficient evidence on causation with respect to an alternative design, as well as on negligence. (R. p. 766, line 12-p. 767, line 20.)

On appeal, the plaintiffs imply that they were in the dark as to the trial court’s concerns and the “specific grounds upon which it granted” Ford’s motion. (App.’s Br. p. 14.) And they suggest that the trial court’s consideration of Ford’s motion and the plaintiffs’ opposition to it was less than thoughtful and robust. The trial record belies their implication and suggestion.

The transcripts from the two days of argument show extensive back-and-forth dialogue, with the trial court asking pointed questions, stating clearly its concerns, and offering the plaintiffs every opportunity to address them. The plaintiffs have nonetheless argued here that it is unclear to them whether the trial court directed verdict because of, for example, “an absence of proof or a finding that Krishnaswami could not admit elements of the causes of action on behalf of Ford.” (App.’s Br. p. 14.) The trial transcript shows that, in fact, *both* these issues were of concern to the trial court and were reasons why it directed verdict for Ford, among many others.

(*E.g.*, R. p. 766, lines 12-24; R. p. 770, lines 10-23.) The trial court similarly identified the failings it observed in the plaintiffs' case in numerous other respects, such as the lack of evidence on the requisite risk-utility analysis, the lack of qualified expert testimony on design defect, and the lack of evidence on causation. (R. p. 764, lines 10-14; R. p. 766, lines 12-16; R. p. 768, lines 7-9; R. p. 773, lines 15-23.)

The plaintiffs' attempt to paint the trial court's ruling as knee-jerk or nebulous does a disservice to the trial court's diligent and thoughtful consideration of these issues over the course of two days. The plaintiffs' current arguments aside, the reality is that the evidentiary shortcomings in their case were well-known to all, including to their trial counsel, who acknowledged not only the weaknesses in their case, but also the trial court's various concerns on numerous levels. (*E.g.*, R. p. 752, lines 8-10; R. p. 775, lines 14-15.) The record shows that the plaintiffs understood full well that the trial court directed verdict for Ford because of the "non-existence of evidence" required on the essential elements of their product liability design defect case. *See Saltz*, 346 S.C. at 138, 551 S.E.2d at 253. The plaintiffs' suggestion to the contrary is unfounded.

The plaintiffs present nothing new here on appeal to alter the reality of their failures of proof on multiple levels. Instead, and as discussed below, they ignore established South Carolina precedent and urge a result that would undermine longstanding product liability law in this state. The plaintiffs provide no reason for this Court to reject longstanding South Carolina law and to rescue them from an outcome that was wholly of their own making by not presenting the requisite proofs as to alleged design defect. The plaintiffs retained an expert to testify on alleged design defect. They told the jury and the trial court that they would call this expert, who was *in the courthouse*. For whatever reason, they didn't call him, and instead rested. Ford disputes that

this expert would have supported a finding of any actual design defect. But the fact remains that the plaintiffs alone were solely responsible for the lack of evidence on their claims, including as to a design defect, risk-utility analysis, alternative feasible design, causation, and negligence.

There was no error in directing verdict for Ford, given the plaintiffs' failures of proof on multiple levels, as the trial court found and as discussed more below. This Court should affirm.

I. Under established South Carolina law, the plaintiffs' failure to present any expert evidence on alleged design defect is dispositive of their claims and on its own supports both the trial court directing verdict for Ford and this Court affirming.

In a products liability action, "a plaintiff must establish three things: (1) he was injured by the product;² (2) the product was in essentially the same condition at the time of the accident as it was when it left the hands of the defendant, and (3) the injury occurred because the product "was in a defective condition unreasonably dangerous to the user." *Graves*, 401 S.C. at 79, 735 S.E.2d at 658 (quoting *Madden v. Cox*, 284 S.C. 574, 579, 328 S.E.2d 108, 112 (Ct. App. 1985)). In an alleged design defect case, the third element requires the plaintiff to point "to a design flaw in the product" and show "how his alternative design would have prevented the product from being unreasonably dangerous." *Id.* (quoting *Branham*, 390 S.C. at 225, 701 S.E.2d at 16).

In terms of proving these fundamental elements, South Carolina law is well-established that "expert evidence is required where a factual issue must be resolved with scientific, technical, or any other specialized knowledge." *Watson*, 389 S.C. at 445, 699 S.E.2d at 175; *also Graves*, 401 S.C. at 80, 735 S.E.2d at 659. Thus, in complex product liability cases involving alleged design defects—such as this one involving alleged design defects in automotive airbag supplemental restraint systems—a plaintiff must present competent, reliable expert testimony to support his or her case. *Watson*, 389 S.C. at 445, 699 S.E.2d at 175; *also Graves*, 401 S.C. at 80,

² The plaintiffs' assertion that Ford does not challenge this first aspect is inaccurate. (App.'s Br. p. 16.) Ford maintains that it was the plaintiff's drinking glass that caused his eye injury.

735 S.E.2d at 659 (recognizing that expert testimony is required in cases alleging design defects in products like automotive fuel systems, sports equipment, escalators, and even shopping carts).

For example, in *Watson*, the Supreme Court addressed the admissibility of expert testimony proffered to support a claim of alleged design defects in a vehicle's cruise control system and seat belts. 389 S.C. at 441–42, 445–53, 699 S.E.2d at 173, 175–79. After determining that some of the plaintiffs' experts' testimony on design defect was improperly admitted, the court agreed with Ford that the trial court erred in not directing verdict in its favor. *Id.* at 449–53, 455, 699 S.E.2d at 177–79, 180. In particular, the court concluded that because the plaintiffs there failed to present admissible expert testimony on alleged design defect, they “failed to present a case for products liability.” *Id.* at 455, 699 S.E.2d at 180. The Supreme Court therefore reversed and entered judgment for Ford. *Id.*

Moreover, where the “claims are too complex to be within the ken of the average lay juror,” *Graves*, 401 S.C. at 80, 735 S.E.2d at 659, the party not only must proffer expert testimony, but must also affirmatively show that the expert testimony satisfies the standards for admissibility under Rule 702. *Watson*, 389 S.C. at 446, 699 S.E.2d at 175 (“Expert testimony is not admissible unless it satisfies all three requirements with respect to subject matter, expert qualifications, and reliability.”); *Graves*, 401 S.C. at 74, 735 S.E.2d at 655 (“All expert testimony must meet the requirements of Rule 702, regardless of whether it is scientific, technical, or otherwise.”).

The plaintiffs here didn't present *any* expert testimony on the issues of their alleged design defect, as they never called their retained airbag design expert Nranian. And they certainly never presented any evidence on design defect for the trial court to perform its Rule 702 gatekeeping analysis. As in *Watson*, this lack of expert testimony on the central issue of alleged

design defect is dispositive of their entire action and fully supports directed verdict for Ford. *See Watson*, 390 S.C. at 455, 699 S.E.2d at 180; *Graves*, 401 S.C. at 80, 735 S.E.2d at 658.

The plaintiffs attempt to avoid this critical failure of proof with three arguments. First, they assert that they didn't need to present any expert testimony on design defect, and could instead rely merely on circumstantial evidence. Second, and contradictorily, they assert that they *did* present expert testimony in the form of Ford witness Krishnaswami. Third, they assert that Krishnaswami's testimony as a manufacturing-company witness constituted "party admissions" and avoided the need for expert testimony altogether. None of their arguments are valid.

A. Established South Carolina law rejects the plaintiffs' argument that expert testimony was not required to support their alleged design defect claims involving complex, highly technical issues.

As shown above, South Carolina law firmly holds that expert testimony is required in cases involving complex, highly technical issues that are beyond the ken of the average lay juror. *Watson*, 389 S.C. at 445, 699 S.E.2d at 175; *Graves*, 401 S.C. at 80, 735 S.E.2d at 659. Indeed, *Watson* is unequivocal on this point. 390 S.C. at 455, 699 S.E.2d at 175. Yet the plaintiffs ignore *Watson* entirely—they don't cite it, much less attempt to distinguish it. And while they briefly cite *Graves*, they ignore that decision's explicit recognition that expert testimony is required in design defect claims involving scientific and technical issues involving automobiles, not to mention in products far less complex than an airbag system. 401 S.C. at 80, 735 S.E.2d at 659.

Contrary to this established body of law, the plaintiffs assert that "expert testimony is not required to prove a design defect product liability case," citing *Graves*, but without discussion. (App.'s Br. p. 29.) The plaintiffs misread and misplace their reliance on *Graves*.

In *Graves*, the plaintiffs asserted a design defect claim against a medical-device manufacturer, alleging that a computer software design defect in a heart-rate and breathing

monitor was responsible for their child's death. 401 S.C. at 68, 735 S.E.2d at 652. The trial court excluded the plaintiffs' computer experts' testimony as unreliable under Rule 702, and therefore granted summary judgment for the manufacturer. *Id.* at 72–73, 735 S.E.2d at 654–55.

In affirming the trial court's rulings and holding, the Supreme Court noted that without the testimony of their experts, which was properly excluded, the plaintiffs had "no direct evidence of whether the monitor was unreasonably dangerous" 401 S.C. at 79, 735 S.E.2d at 658. The *Graves* court reiterated "the general rule" that "any fact can be shown through circumstantial evidence." 401 S.C. at 79–80, 735 S.E.2d at 658. But immediately thereafter, the court acknowledged that in "some design defect cases, expert testimony is required to make this showing [as to an unreasonably dangerous condition] because the claims are too complex to be within the ken of the ordinary lay juror." *Id.* at 80, 735 S.E.2d at 658 (citing *Watson*, 389 S.C. at 445, 699 S.E.2d at 175). In support, and in addition to *Watson*, the *Graves* court cited examples from other jurisdictions of design defect claims similarly involving complex issues requiring expert testimony, including claims involving an escalator, a shopping cart, sports equipment, and an automotive fuel system. *Id.* at 80–81, 735 S.E.2d at 659.

After noting that whether "expert testimony is required is a question of law," the *Graves* court had "little trouble concluding as a matter of law that the *Graves*' claim is one such case because it involves complex issues of computer science." *Id.* at 81, 735 S.E.2d at 659. The court acknowledged that we all "use computers in some form or fashion almost every day of our lives, the design and structure of software they run is beyond the ordinary understanding and experience of laymen." *Id.* The *Graves* court therefore concluded that the plaintiffs there had to "support their allegations with expert testimony, and without it, their claims are subject to dismissal." *Id.*

The same analysis and result applies here. The plaintiffs' claims here involve complex issues of automotive airbag system design, including the design of computer algorithms, the design and placement of crash sensors, the determination of deployment versus no-deployment scenarios, and other highly technical, scientific, and specialized matters for a system that must detect, analyze, predict, and determine whether to deploy an airbag within a matter of milliseconds. Similar to the *Graves* court's statement with respect to computers, everyone or nearly everyone uses automobiles in some form or fashion almost every day. However, people rarely—if ever—encounter airbags. But more importantly, the mechanical, electrical, structural, and computer engineering underlying airbag system design are simply “beyond the understanding and experience of laymen.” *Id.*

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